The University of Southern Mississippi

The Aquila Digital Community

Dissertations

Winter 12-6-2022

Seeing Children's Futures Through Rose Colored Glasses: Does Optimism Bias toward Reproduction Discourage Anti-Natalism?

Faith L. Brown University of Southern Mississippi

Follow this and additional works at: https://aquila.usm.edu/dissertations



Part of the Social Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Brown, Faith L., "Seeing Children's Futures Through Rose Colored Glasses: Does Optimism Bias toward Reproduction Discourage Anti-Natalism?" (2022). Dissertations. 2067. https://aquila.usm.edu/dissertations/2067

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by The Aquila Digital Community. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of The Aquila Digital Community. For more information, please contact aquilastaff@usm.edu.

SEEING CHILDREN'S FUTURES THROUGH ROSE COLORED GLASSES: DOES OPTIMISM BIAS TOWARD REPRODUCTION DISCOURAGE ANTI-NATALISM

by

Faith L. Brown

A Dissertation
Submitted to the Graduate School,
the College of Education and Human Sciences
and the School of Psychology
at The University of Southern Mississippi
in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements
for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Approved by:

Dr. Donald F. Sacco, Committee Chair Dr. Lucas A Keefer Dr. Elena V. Stepanova Dr. Alen Hajnal

COPYRIGHT BY

Faith L. Brown

2022

Published by the Graduate School



ABSTRACT

In order to examine the possibility that individuals continue having children and holding positive views toward reproduction regardless of how much their future children might suffer because of an optimism bias, I conducted two experimental studies examining the effect of optimism manipulation on people's opinions of anti-natalism, the position that it is morally wrong for individuals to reproduce. In Study 1, participants received an optimism (v. pessimism or control) manipulation about either themselves or a future child before being asked to read an essay about anti-natalism and a control essay having to do with parents being involved in school activities. Participants then rated their feelings about the authors and completed an anti-natalism scale. I predicted that individuals primed for optimism about their future children would be lower in support for antinatalism than people primed with a negative emotion (pessimism), optimism about their self, and those in the control conditions. As for Study 2, participants received an optimism (v. pessimism or control) × self (v. economy) manipulation. I predicted that individuals primed for optimism about the economy would be lower in support for antinatalism than people primed with a negative emotion (pessimism), optimism about their self, and those in the control conditions. Overall, I found that optimism (v. pessimism) did not reduce (or increase) support for anti-natalism in comparison to the other groups. Instead, it is suggested that anti-natalism is a relatively unpopular belief that is not easily manipulated.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my committee members Dr. Don Sacco, Dr. Lucas Keefer, Dr. Elena Stepanova, and Dr. Alen Hajnal for their assistance and encouragement throughout this project. Lastly, I would like to thank my fellow Brain and Behavior graduate students for their support and help.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	viii
CHAPTER I – SEEING CHILDREN THROUGH ROSE COLOREI	O GLASSES: DOES
OPTIMISM BIAS TOWARD REPRODUCTION DISCCOURAGE	ANTI-NATALISM
	1
1.1 Anti-Natalism	2
1.2 Optimism and Anti-Natalism	4
1.3 Optimism and Optimism Bias	4
CHAPTER II – THE CURRENT STUDIES	7
CHAPTER III - STUDY 1	12
3.1 Method	13
3.1.1 Participants	13
3.1.2 Materials	14
3.1.2.1 Demographics	14
3.1.2.2 Self-Esteem Measure	14
3.1.2.3 Positive and Negative Affect	15
3.1.2.4 Dispositional Optimism	15
3.1.2.5 Socioeconomic Status	15

3.1.2.6 Depression Measure	15
3.1.2.7 Priming Material	16
3.1.2.8 Child Optimism Bias Manipulation Check	17
3.1.2.9 Optimism Manipulation Check	18
3.1.2.10 Essay Responses	18
3.1.2.11 Anti-Natalism Scale	19
3.1.3 Procedure	19
3.2 Results	20
3.2.1 Manipulation Checks	20
3.2.2 Essay Ratings/Grades	21
3.2.3 Anti-Natalism Scale	23
3.2.4 Exploratory Regression Analyses	25
3.3 Discussion	26
CHAPTER IV – STUDY 2	28
4.1 Method	28
4.1.1 Participants	28
4.1.2 Materials	29
4.1.2.1 Demographics	29
4.1.2.2 Self-Esteem Measure	29
4.1.2.3 Positive and Negative Affect	29

4.1.2.4 Dispositional Optimism	30
4.1.2.5 Socioeconomic Status	30
4.1.2.6 Depression Measure	30
4.1.2.7 Priming Material	30
4.1.2.8 Child Optimism Bias Measure	32
4.1.2.9 Optimism Manipulation Check	32
4.1.2.10 Essay Responses	32
4.1.2.11 Anti-Natalism Scale	32
4.1.2.12 Procedure	33
4.2 Results	33
4.2.1 Manipulation Check	33
4.2.2 Essay Ratings/Grades	34
4.2.3 Anti-Natalism Scale	36
4.2.4 Exploratory Regression Analyses	38
4.3 Discussion	39
CHAPTER V – GENERAL DISCUSSION	41
5.1 Limitations and Future Directions	42
5.2 Conclusion	45
APPENDIX A – Tables	47
APPENDIX B – IRB Approval Letter	52

REFERENCES	S	53
REFERENCES	3	33

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Study 1 means and standard deviations (by thoughts about future and chil	d v. self
conditions combined)	47
Table 2 Study 1 observed correlations between all variables	49
Table 3 Study 2 means and standard deviations (by thoughts about future and economic and economi	n or self
conditions combined)	50
Table 4 Observed correlations between all variables	51

CHAPTER I – SEEING CHILDREN THROUGH ROSE COLORED GLASSES: DOES OPTIMISM BIAS TOWARD REPRODUCTION DISCCOURAGE ANTI-NATALISM

Having children is an integral part of the lives of most members of society. Though the birth rate has fallen around the world over the last few decades, most people eventually have children (The World Bank, 2017; Livingston, 2015). In the United States, for example, although the amount of people choosing to remain childless-by-choice or childfree has increased dramatically in the past few decades (15% of women remained childless in 2014), most Americans continue to have children and women in their 40s are actually more likely to have children than in the decades before (Livingston, 2015). What drives individuals' reproductive decision-making and perceptions of the reproductive decisions of others?

Certain societal and religious groups commonly endorse pro-natalism, the belief that people should have children. For example, some believe that people have an obligation to have children to keep society progressing or to make sure there are enough people to care for the elderly (Demeny, 1986; Gheaus, 2015).

Several religious denominations also support pro-natalism. For example, in relation to Christianity, Catholicism is known to support pro-natalism and pro-natalist policies. In 1968, Pope Paul VI proposed a blanket ban on artificial contraception due to the view that methods like the contraceptive pill could encourage "a general lowering of moral standards" (Ignaciuk & Kelly, 2020). The Catholic Church often teaches that it is morally wrong to take steps to actively prevent having children while sexually active, even if the individual or couple is choosing to refrain from having children because they do not want or cannot afford to support a child (Burke & Cohen, 2016). Though most

Catholics report using contraceptive methods to prevent unintended pregnancies (Jones & Dreweke, 2011), the Catholic Church remains against contraception, emergency contraception, sterilization, and abortion (Levada, 2008). What is more, the Catholic Church sometimes works to prevent individuals who desire foregoing parenthood or limiting their family size from doing so by preventing doctors in Catholic run hospitals from offering contraception and performing sterilization (Stulberg, Hoffman, Dahlquist, & Freedman, 2014).

More so, as birthrates have continued to fall throughout much of the world, some countries have attempted to implement pro-natalist policies to encourage people to have more children. Countries have attempted to raise their birth rates though a variety of methods like guaranteeing paid parental leave, providing tax credits to people who have children or a certain number of children, and encouraging the formation of romantic partnerships (United Nations, 2017).

1.1 Anti-Natalism

Though many countries are currently working to find ways to increase their plummeting birth rate, some groups hold views against reproduction. *Anti-natalism* is the philosophical position that it is morally wrong for individuals to have children. Antinatalist thought posits that people should refrain from reproducing to prevent the future suffering of potential children or to prevent potential children from harming others (Benatar, 1997; 2006).

There are two main reasons for anti-natalist beliefs, *misanthropic* and *altruistic* (sometimes referred to as *philanthropic*) anti-natalism. Altruistic anti-natalism is the belief that people should not have children in order to prevent those children from

suffering. In support of altruistic anti-natalism, Benatar (1997; 2006) argues that individuals necessarily experience more pain and suffering in life than they do pleasure and happiness. Additionally, life is bad for many and is often filled with negative events like disease, starvation, and poverty (Benatar, 2006; 2017). Life, in his view, contains more suffering regardless of where someone lives or what social class they reside in. For example, much of life is filled with monotony. To be somewhat comfortable in life people must perform many tasks that they would otherwise choose to not do, like go to school, get a job, commute in traffic, perform household maintenance, cook, and clean. Benatar (2006) argues that the only way to prevent individuals from suffering and experiencing all of the monotony of life is by not bringing others into existence.

In contrast, misanthropic anti-natalism is the belief that people should not have children to prevent those children from harming others (Benatar, 2015). Individuals can harm others both actively and inadvertently. There are many ways that people can purposefully harm others, for example by engaging in assault, war, and murder. Individuals can also inadvertently cause harm to others by polluting the environment, overconsuming natural resources, adding to overpopulation, and spreading disease, among many other ways (Benatar, 2015). Many misanthropic reasons for supporting antinatalism are contingent upon external factors, such as overpopulation and climate change. If the ongoing threats of climate change and overcrowding are ever resolved, then individuals supporting anti-natalism for these reasons will no longer have a reason to hold these beliefs (Benatar 2015; 2019).

1.2 Optimism and Anti-Natalism

If life is full of suffering, why do people continue having children? Benatar (2006) argues that individuals continue having children, irrespective of the suffering in life, because they have an innate bias toward optimism. According to Benatar (2006), individuals commonly view their lives as being better than they actually are and they believe that their children's lives will also be good, as such they see being born as a good thing. Benatar (2006) argues that without this optimism bias, people would be less likely to continue having children.

Previous research supports the thought that individuals who are more optimistic are less likely to support anti-natalism. I have previously found that believing your current or future children will be smarter, happier, or more successful than other peoples' children partially explained why individuals are resistant to anti-natalism (Brown & Keefer, 2022a). Additionally, individuals who thought their children were likely to be better than other children were less likely to support altruistic and misanthropic anti-natalism, and anti-natalism in general (Brown & Keefer, 2022a).

1.3 Optimism and Optimism Bias

So, what is optimism exactly? Optimism is the belief that good events are likely to occur, while bad events are unlikely to happen (Scheier & Carver, 1985; Weinstein, 1980). There are two types of optimism, *state* and *dispositional* or *trait* (Peters et al., 2010; Weinstein, 1980). In relation to dispositional optimism, previous research has found that individuals are generally more or less optimistic. Optimistic individuals usually view the future positively, while pessimistic individuals usually view the future negatively (Weinstein, 1980).

Though some individuals can be generally optimistic, optimism is an alterable characteristic. Individuals can be temporarily primed to view the future more positively or negatively (Kress, Bristle, & Aue, 2018; Peters et al., 2010; Peters, Meevissen, & Hanssen, 2013; Kluemper, Little, & DeGroot, 2009; Fosnaugh, Geers, & Wellman, 2009). Additionally, dispositional optimism and state optimism can interact. Bosch-Meevissen, Peters, & Alberts (2014) found that when primed for state optimism, individuals higher in dispositional optimism were less likely to show ego depletion. Optimism has also been found to be associated with better mood, health, and job performance (Kluemper, Little, & DeGroot, 2009; Segerstrom, et al., 1998; Scheier & Carver, 1985). Lastly, optimism has been found to increase as a person ages until around age 55, after which it decreases. This is thought to occur because individuals typically complete most of their life goals like attaining a degree, getting a stable job, buying a home, and having children by this age and thus have less to look forward to later in life (Schwaba et al., 2019).

Though individuals have a tendency to be optimistic, not all optimism is justified. Individuals can have an optimism bias, which means that they are overly optimistic and often focus on likely positive future events while ignoring likely negative future events (Chua & Job, 1999; Sharot et al., 2007; Sharot, 2011; Weinstein, 1980). For example, individuals often predict that a task will not take as long as it will actually take (Buehler, Griffin, & MacDonald, 1997) and individuals often overestimate their driving ability and underestimate their likelihood of being involved in a car accident (DeJoy, 1989).

Individuals cannot only be biased about the positivity of their own future, but also the future of their children. Previous research has found that individuals are

unrealistically optimistic about their children's futures and believe that they will have better temperament and health compared to other children (Lench, Quas, & Edelstein, 2006). Along with my previous findings that individuals who view their future children as likely being smarter, happier, and more successful than others are less likely to support anti-natalism, this leads one to wonder if optimism specifically about one's future children might lead to one being more resistant to anti-natalism.

CHAPTER II - THE CURRENT STUDIES

The purpose of the current studies is to examine the importance of optimism about the likely future of children and the society future children will grow up in on individuals' reluctance to support anti-natalism. Individuals have previously been found to remain resistant to anti-natalism and view anti-natalists negatively, even when reminded of a societal threat like overcrowding or disease (Brown & Keefer, 2022b). And as stated previously, viewing one's future children more positively has been found to partially mediate the relationship between optimism and reduced support for anti-natalism and individuals who rated their future children as being likely to be better off than other children were lower in support for anti-natalism (Brown & Keefer, 2022a).

Additionally, research has yet to examine the effect of optimism v. pessimism manipulation on anti-natalism endorsement. It remains to be seen if manipulation of individuals' optimism toward their future children (v. their self) would further reduce or increase support for anti-natalism. Previous research (Brown & Keefer, 2022a) experimentally manipulated optimism about oneself, though not optimism about one's future children. Though there is currently a gap in literature comparing priming of optimism about oneself to optimism about one's future children, it can be assumed that optimism about one's future children might be a stronger influence on individuals' perceptions of children and reproductive decision-making than optimism about themselves. This is because individuals will be specifically asked to think about their children or future children and the lives they are likely to live, while when primed for being optimism about one's future, they are not specifically reminded of and asked to think about children, so they might instead be thinking of a time in the future before they

have children, an activity that they might do in the future without their children, or a time when their children are out of the home.

This is also an important comparison because in order to justify having children so that they can have a good life, one must be optimistic about their future children's lives, though they might not necessarily be optimistic about their own lives. For example, individuals often say that they are having children so that their children can have a better life than they have had. While in relation to pessimism, individuals who are pessimistic about their own lives might still believe that their children will live good and fulfilling lives, though individuals pessimistic about the lives of their future children should be less resistant to anti-natalism.

Also, optimism v. pessimism about the world future children are likely to grow up in and inherit has not been examined in relation to anti-natalism. Could the relationship between optimism v. pessimism be contingent on a certain area of importance to society (e.g. the economy)? While optimism manipulation more generally was found to show more resistance toward anti-natalism, it is yet to be seen if the manipulation of more specific types of optimism (e.g. optimism about children or the economy) would have the same effect. A thriving economy is something that is widely agreed upon to encourage societal growth and indicate a reason to be optimistic about the future. When the economy is strong, individuals might be more likely to be able to put money into more than the necessities, like a college or graduate level education, family vacations, a new home or car, a nice wedding, or a new baby. While when there are great financial difficulties, individuals are often just trying to get by and might not be in the process of planning for an optimistic future for themselves and their children. Additionally, when

the economy is good, individuals have more resources that they can use to give their children a good life. This can be seen in birth rates during prosperous economic times in comparison to difficult economic times. For example, around 2007 and 2008 there was a steep decline in the number of children being born, most likely due to individuals not being able to afford to have a new child and being pessimistic about the economic uncertainty a child would be born into (Livingston & Cohn, 2010).

Additionally, priming optimism about the economy is an ideal way to examine optimism in specific domains. Other ways could include the environment or public health, though a person's political affiliation might be more likely to confound the findings in a way that the economy is unlikely to. Many hold a negative view about being concerned with the environment (e.g., climate change and pollution) and public health (e.g., the COVID-19 pandemic and vaccinations), but while individuals often hold different views on how to best make the economy function and prosper, it is widely agreed that a strong economy is a positive for society.

To examine these possibilities, I conducted two studies manipulating specific types of optimism and pessimism. Study 1 compares optimism and pessimism toward individuals' future children to optimism and pessimism toward oneself. And Study 2 compares optimism and pessimism toward oneself to a specific area of interest to society, the economy.

In relation to both studies, I predicted that the optimism manipulation would show reduced support for anti-natalism in comparison to both the control and pessimism inductions. Specifically, I predicted that when collapsing across self v. other (child or economy) individuals primed for optimism would be most resistant to anti-natalism and

individuals primed for pessimism would be least resistant to anti-natalism, with individuals in the control condition scoring in between these two groups. This finding would replicate previous research (Brown & Keefer, 2022a) and further validate philosophical theories about the basis of anti-natalism.

More specifically, I predicted that optimism priming related to a specific focus (future children or the economy) would show the least support for anti-natalism while pessimism priming related to a specific focus would show the most support for anti-natalism. I predicted this because individuals primed for pessimism about their own children would be forced to think about negative things happening to their children and as mentioned previously, pessimism about the economy has been shown to lead to less children being born during trying economic times, thus pessimism about the economy is expected to influence people to be less resistant to anti-natalism. In contrast, individuals who are optimistic about the economy will likely believe that their children should have a bright economic future, be able to afford the education that they desire, and to be able to succeed in a well-paying career, thus making their life easier than it would be if they expected them to struggle financially.

Additionally, I included socioeconomic status (SES), trait optimism, depression, trait self-esteem, and positive and negative affect as potential covariates. Individuals high in SES likely have to worry less about their potential future children weathering an economic crisis. Individuals high in SES also likely have to worry less about their children's future in general as they can more easily afford things like housing, food, and tuition, and they are more likely to be able to leave their children an inheritance. Individuals high in SES have also been found to be more optimistic than individuals

lower in SES (Boehm et al., 2015). Additionally, depressed individuals have been found to be more pessimistic than non-depressed individuals, while individuals higher in optimism have been found to be higher in self-esteem (Alloy & Ahrens, 1987; Duy & Yildiz, 2019; MacLeod et al., 1999; Pyszczynski, Holt, & Greenberg, 1987; Scheier, Carver, Bridges, 1994). Additionally, anti-natalists have been found to be higher in depression (Schonegger, 2022). Lastly, individuals high in pessimism have been found to be high in negative affect, while individuals high in optimism have been found to be high in positive affect (Marshall et al., 1992; Robinson-Whelen, 1997).

CHAPTER III - STUDY 1

Study 1 examines the effect of induced optimism about ones' future children (in comparison to oneself) on anti-natalism. As an alternative to optimism, Study 1 also examined the effect of induced pessimism about ones' future children (in comparison to oneself) on anti-natalism. Though related, optimism and pessimism are often considered to be separate outcome expectancies (Sanna, 2010; Chang, Maydeu-Olivares, & D'Zurilla, 1997; Robinson-Whelen, MacCallum, & Kiecolt-Glaser, 1997; Marshall et al., 1992). For example, the Life Orientation Test (LOT) consists of separate optimism and pessimism factors in groups such as middle-aged and senior adults (Robinson-Whelen, MacCallum, & Kiecolt-Glaser, 1997). There are also differences in personality and mood associated with optimism and pessimism. Optimism has been associated with positive affect and extraversion, while pessimism has been associated with negative affect and neuroticism (Marshall et al., 1992).

Overall, I expected that individuals would be less supportive of anti-natalism in the optimism conditions and more supportive in the pessimism conditions, with the control conditions scoring in the middle. However, I further expected that these main effects would be moderated by the target of the prime. Specifically, I expected that individuals primed for optimism about future children would be lower in support for anti-natalism than individuals in the optimism about oneself condition. I predicted that individuals primed for pessimism about future children would be higher in support for anti-natalism than individuals in the pessimism about oneself condition. While optimism or pessimism about oneself might be more personal, anti-natalism is a belief against future children coming into existence, often to prevent those children from suffering. As

such, pessimism or optimism about those potential future children should be more salient as a justification for (or against) anti-natalism.

Another goal of the study was to treat socioeconomic status, affect, self-esteem, and depression as covariates to examine whether the predicted effects of the manipulation remained significant after controlling for these factors. I planned to include these covariates to determine whether any observed effects of the manipulation were due specifically to the content of that prime.

3.1 Method

3.1.1 Participants

I recruited 300 participants through Amazon Mechanical Turk. Participants were paid \$1 for between 10 and 15 minutes of their time, participants were boosted by \$1 if they went over 15-minutes. A power analysis in G*power (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009) based on a proposed $3 \times 2 \times 2$ mixed-model ANOVA with a two-tailed test, $\alpha = .05$, and a target power of .80 suggested that a sample of 162 would be sufficient to detect a predicted medium effect size (f = .25). I oversampled due to the number of covariates, the likelihood of participants not finishing the study, my intention to remove anyone who did not want to have children, and the likelihood of attention check failures. 15 participants were removed from analyses for failing one or more attention checks, which consisted of two questions located approximately in the middle of the study asking them to click a certain option. Additionally, participants were screened through Cloud Research for being reliable participants and low in previous attention check failures before being allowed to participate. Lastly, 94 participants were removed from analyses

for not having or wanting children, thus data from 191 participants who completed the study were analyzed.

3.1.2 Materials

3.1.2.1 Demographics

Participants received a demographics questionnaire asking them their gender, age, and ethnic background, and if they wanted to have children in the future. I did not expect to find a difference in gender, age, or ethnic background, but it is standard practice to report these data. The gender of my participants was relatively diverse (109 cisgender women, 71 cisgender men, 2 transgender women, 2 transgender men, and 6 gender non-binary or other. My participants were also diverse in age, ranging from 23 to 77 (M = 41.70). My sample was predominantly white or Caucasian (132, 25 black or African American, 16 Asian or Pacific Islander, and 28 all other ethnicities). And the majority of my participants already had children (110, 56 wanted them but did not yet have them, and 25 had yet to decide if they wanted children or not).

3.1.2.2 Self-Esteem Measure

Trait self-esteem was assessed using the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (Rosenberg, 1965), a 10-item scale used to measure self-esteem. The Rosenberg Self-Esteem is on a 4-point Likert scale ($1 = Strongly \, Disagree$; $4 = Strongly \, Agree$) that is commonly used to measure self-esteem (a = 0.92, M = 3.10, SD = 0.67). Questions include, "On the whole, I am satisfied with myself" and "I feel that I'm a person of worth". Scores were averaged after appropriate reverse scoring.

3.1.2.3 Positive and Negative Affect

The PANAS (Watson et al., 1988) was used to measure participants' affect on a 7-point Likert scale ($1 = Strongly \, Disagree$; $7 = Strongly \, Agree$). The PANAS measures trait positive (10-items including "attentive" and "enthusiastic"; a = 0.91, M = 4.80, SD = 1.20) and negative affect (10-items including "afraid" and "nervous"; a = 0.94, M = 2.00, SD = 1.20). Scores were averaged.

3.1.2.4 Dispositional Optimism

Trait optimism was assessed using the Life Orientation Test-Revised (LOT-R; Scheier et al., 1994), a 10-item scale used to measure optimism. The LOT-R is on a 5-point Likert scale ($1 = Strongly \, Disagree$; $5 = Strongly \, Agree$) that is commonly used to measure optimism (a = 0.94, M = 4.70, SD = 1.10). Questions include, "In uncertain times, I usually expect the best." and "Overall, I expect more good things to happen to me than bad.". Scores were averaged to create a composite.

3.1.2.5 Socioeconomic Status

SES was assessed using six-items previously used to measure socioeconomic status (Griskevicius et al., 2011). SES was measured on a 7-point Likert scale (1 = $Strongly\ Disagree$; 7 = $Strongly\ Agree$). Items included "I have enough money to buy things I want" and "My family usually had enough money for things when I was growing up" (a = 0.83, M = 3.70, SD = 1.40).

3.1.2.6 Depression Measure

To measure depression, I used the Center for Epistemologic Studies Depression Scale (the CES-D Scale; Radloff, 1977). The scale asks about individuals' mood over the last week and is on a 4-point Likert scale. Questions include, "I felt sad" and "I felt

depressed". CES-D scores are estimated as a sum of the items (scored 0-3), with higher scores reflecting greater depressive symptomology (a = 0.95, M = 1.70, SD = 0.68).

3.1.2.7 Priming Material

Participants in the optimism (n = 71), pessimism (n = 59), and neutral (n = 61)conditions read a brief news article and then completed a modified version of Best Possible Self writing prompt (King, 2001). The prime also discussed the participant's future (n = 98) or their children's future (n = 93). In the optimism + self condition (n = 98)37) participants read a news article listing five reasons they should be optimistic about the new year (Kenny, 2021) and then read a prompt saying, "Think about your life in the future. Imagine that everything has gone as well as it possibly could. You have worked hard and succeeded at accomplishing all of your life goals. Think of this as the realization of all of your life dreams. Now, write about what you imagined". While participants in the optimism + child condition (n = 30) read a news article about how innovations can be made to promote a better future for children (Fore, 2022) and then a prompt saying, "Think about your children's life in the future. Imagine that everything has gone as well as it possibly could. Your children have worked hard and succeeded at accomplishing all of their life goals. Think of this as the realization of all of their life dreams. Now, write about what you imagined".

Participants in the pessimism + self condition (n = 29) read a brief news article examining why there is so much public pessimism (Ezrati, 2021) and then they read a prompt saying, "Think about your life in the future. Imagine that everything has gone as bad as it possibly could. You have worked hard and but have not succeeded at accomplishing all of your life goals. Think of this as all of your dreams not being

realized. Now, write about what you imagined". While participants in the pessimism + child condition (n = 30) read a brief news article about how the COVID-19 pandemic has negatively affected children's education (Banerjee, 2022) and then they read a prompt saying "Think about your child's life in the future. Imagine that everything has gone as bad as it possibly could. Your children have worked hard and but have not succeeded at accomplishing all of their life goals. Think of this as all of their dreams not being realized. Now, write about what you imagined".

Participants in the neutral + self group (n = 32) read a brief news article about how the Super Bowl would be staying in Inglewood instead of moving elsewhere (Beacham, 2022) and then they read a prompt saying, "Think about your life in the future. Imagine that everything has stayed the same. Your life has not been overly bad or good. And you have been spending your time going through the motions. Now, write about what you imagined". While participants in the neutral + child condition (n = 29) read a news article about the top children's books of 2021 (Gambino, 2021) and then a prompt saying "Think about your children's life in the future. Imagine that everything has stayed the same. Their life has not been overly bad or good. And they have been spending their time going through the motions. Now, write about what you imagined". After being assigned to their condition, participants were asked to spend a few minutes carefully thinking about the writing topic and then writing about what they imagined.

3.1.2.8 Child Optimism Bias Manipulation Check

Participants were then asked about their optimism and pessimism about their children or future children using an adapted version of (Lench, Quas, & Edelstein, 2006). In comparison to other children, participants rated how likely their children are to

experience a series of 12 positive and 12 negative events. For example, positive events included "remaining healthy" and "completing college", while negative events included "getting a divorce" and "becoming depressed". Individuals rated the likelihood of an event happening to their future child in comparison to other children and responded on a 7-point Likert scale (1 = far below average; 7 = far above average; a = 0.94, M = 4.70, SD = 1.10).

3.1.2.9 Optimism Manipulation Check

Next, participants received an adapted version of the questionnaire for Future Expectations (FEX; MacLeod, 1996). This questionnaire has previously been used as a manipulation check for future expectancies (Hanssen et al., 2013). The FEX measures positive and negative expectancies. 10-items involve negative expectancies (e.g., "you will have health problems" and "people will find you dull and boring") and 10-items involve positive expectancies ("e.g., "you will get a lot of satisfaction out of life" and "you will make good and lasting friendships"). Participants responded to each statement on a 7-point Likert-scale (1 = not at all likely to occur; 7 = extremely likely to occur; 7 = extremely likely to occur and 10 - extremely likely to occur and $10 - \text{extremely likely l$

3.1.2.10 Essay Responses

To subtly measure participants' views on anti-natalism participants rated their responses to two essays after the manipulation. The anti-natalism essay was a shortened version of (Benatar, 1997), which argues that it is wrong to have children (a = 0.93, M = 2.70, SD = 1.50). And the parent essay was a shortened version of (Spera, 2005) which argues in support of parents being involved in education (a = 0.93, M = 5.70, SD = 1.00). I have previously used both essays to indirectly assess individuals' views on anti-natalism

(Brown, Keefer, & Spadgenske, 2022). These essays were given to participants in randomized order. For both essays, participants were asked how friendly, responsible, ethical, kind, and fulfilled in life they feel the author of the essay was. Participants responded to these questions on a 7-point Likert-scale (1 = strongly disagree; 7 strongly agree). Participants also assigned a grade to the anti-natalism (M = 72.40) and parenting (M = 91.09) essays from 50 to 100.

3.1.2.11 Anti-Natalism Scale

I also measured individuals' explicit support for anti-natalism using a scale I created for this purpose (Brown, Keefer, & Spadgenske, 2022). The scale consists of 6-items measuring general anti-natalism (e.g., "it is morally wrong to have children"; a = 0.90, M = 1.80, SD = 1.20), 6-items measuring altruistic anti-natalism (e.g., "people should not have children because those children will eventually suffer"; a = 0.80, M = 2.20, SD = 1.20), and 6-items measuring misanthropic anti-natalism (e.g., "people should not have children in order to prevent overpopulation" "; a = 0.85, M = 2.20, SD = 1.20). Participants will rate these questions on a 7-point Likert scale (1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree).

3.1.3 Procedure

Participants were recruited for the study online through Amazon Mechanical

Turk. They were given an informed consent statement and asked to continue on to the

next page if they chose to participate in the study. Participants first received the

demographics questionnaire, then the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale, the socioeconomic

questions, the CES-D Scale, the LOT-R, and the PANAS in randomized order to prevent

order effects. After measuring personality differences, participants were then randomly

assigned to one of the six priming conditions in my 3 (optimism vs. pessimism vs. control) \times 2 (self vs. child) design. Next, they completed the two manipulation checks in randomized order to confirm that the manipulations worked as intended. Then they were given two essays in randomized order and asked to provide feedback on the essays and authors. From there they completed the anti-natalism scale. Lastly, they were presented with an onscreen debriefing.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Manipulation Checks

To check if my manipulations were successful, I first ran a 3 (optimism v. neutral v. pessimism) × 2 (self v. child) ANOVA looking at state optimism. The resulting model indicated that there was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. children on state optimism, F(2, 185) = 1.45, p = .24. There was also not an effect of thoughts about the future on state optimism, F(2, 185) = .27, p = .77. There was an effect of thinking about yourself v. children on state optimism ratings, F(1, 185) = 5.44, p = .02, $\eta_p^2 = .03$. Individuals in the child condition (M = 4.90) were significantly higher in state optimism than individuals in the self condition (M = 4.56).

As part of my optimism manipulation primed individuals for optimism towards ones' children, I then ran a 3 (optimism v. neutral v. pessimism) × 2 (self v. child) ANOVA looking at optimism toward children. The resulting model did not indicate am interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. children on optimism toward children, F(2, 185) = 1.72, p = .18. There was an effect of thoughts about the future on child optimism, F(2, 185) = 7.26, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = 07$. Pairwise

comparisons indicated that individuals in the pessimism condition (M = 4.43) were significantly lower in optimism toward children than individuals in the neutral condition (M = 5.04, p < .001). Additionally, individuals in the optimism condition (M = 4.79) were significantly higher in optimism about future children than participants in the pessimism condition (p = .03), though it is important to note that there was not a significant difference in child optimism between the optimism and neutral conditions (p = .13). There was also an effect of thinking about yourself v. children on child optimism ratings, F(1, 185) = 8.35, p = .004, $\eta_p^2 = .04$. Individuals in the child condition (M = 4.94) were higher in optimism toward children than individuals in the self condition (M = 4.58).

3.2.2 Essay Ratings/Grades

I then submitted essay ratings to a 3 (between-subjects: optimism v. neutral v. pessimism) × 2 (between-subjects: self v. child) × 2 (repeated measure: anti-natalism vs. control) mixed-model ANOVA. There was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. children on essay ratings, F(2, 185) = 0.13, p = .88. There was also not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and essay ratings, F(2, 185) = .40, p = .67. There was not a significant interaction between thinking about yourself v. children and essay ratings, F(1, 185) = .52, p = .47. Additionally, there was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. children, F(2, 185) = .86, p = .42. The resulting model indicated only a main effect of essay ratings, F(1, 185) = 507.75, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .73$, participants liked the anti-natalist author (M = 2.66) significantly less than the author of the parenting article (M = 5.73), regardless of condition. There was not a significant main

effect of thoughts about the future, F(2, 185) = .17, p = .84. There was also no significant main effect of thinking about yourself v. children, F(1, 185) = .17, p = .68.

To determine whether my predicted covariates changed these results, I submitted essay ratings to a $3 \times 2 \times 2$ mixed model ANCOVA controlling for self-esteem, positive affect, negative affect, trait optimism, SES, and depression. There was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. children on essay ratings, F(2, 179) = .06, p = .94. There was also not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and essay ratings, F(2, 179) = .84, p = .43. There was not a significant interaction between thinking about yourself v. children and essay ratings, F(1, 179) = .24, p = .63. Additionally, there was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. children, F(2, 179) = .65, p = .52. The resulting model again indicated only a main effect of essay ratings, F(1, 179) = 5.20, p = .02, $\eta_p^2 = .03$. There was not a significant main effect of thoughts about the future, F(2, 179) = .55, p = .58. There was also no significant main effect of thinking about yourself v. children, F(1, 179) = .23, p = .63.

From there I submitted essay grades to the same 3 (between-subjects: optimism v. neutral v. pessimism) \times 2 (between-subjects: self v. child) \times 2 (repeated measure: antinatalism vs. control) mixed-model ANOVA. There was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. children on essay grades, F(2, 185) = 1.85, p = .16. There was also not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and essay grades, F(2, 185) = 1.16, p = .32. There was not a significant interaction between thinking about yourself v. children and essay grades, F(1, 185) = .05, p = .83. Additionally, there was not a significant interaction between thoughts

about the future and thinking about yourself v. children, F(2, 185) = 1.17, p = .31. The resulting model indicated only a main effect of essay grades, F(1, 185) = 241.25, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .57$, participants graded the anti-natalist essay (M = 72.38) significantly lower than the parenting article (M = 91.09), regardless of condition. There was not a significant main effect of thoughts about the future, F(2, 185) = .39, p = .68. There was also no significant main effect of thinking about yourself v. children, F(1, 185) = .02, p = .88.

To determine whether my predicted covariates changed these results, I submitted essay grades to a $3 \times 2 \times 2$ mixed model ANCOVA controlling for self-esteem, positive affect, negative affect, trait optimism, SES, and depression. There was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. children on essay grades, F(2, 179) = 2.45, p = .09. There was also not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and essay grades, F(2, 179) = 2.17, p = .12. There was not a significant interaction between thinking about yourself v. children and essay grades, F(1, 179) = .66, p = .42. Additionally, there was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. children, F(2, 179) = 1.18, p = .31. Controlling for these variables showed that there was no longer a main effect of essay grading, F(1, 179) = .73, p = .40. There was not a significant main effect of thoughts about the future, F(2, 179) = 1.01, p = .37. There was also no significant main effect of thinking about yourself v. children, F(1, 179) = .22, p = .64.

3.2.3 Anti-Natalism Scale

The three anti-natalism scale components were all positively correlated with each other, the anti-natalism scale ratings, and the anti-natalism scale grading (complete

correlations can be found in Table 2). This suggests that specific beliefs about antinatalism are linked to the likability of the author of the anti-natalism article and participants' views about the anti-natalism article.

Additionally, the anti-natalism scale components, article rating, and article grading were generally negatively correlated with trait optimism, the optimism manipulation check, and optimism about one's children. This suggests that while the manipulations generally did not appear to be successful, individuals higher in optimism about their lives and the lives of their children are less likely to support anti-natalism. Though it is important to note that ratings of the control essay were negatively correlated with all three anti-natalism scale components, suggesting that thinking about parenting, even when reproduction is not mentioned, might influence individuals to be more resistant to anti-natalism.

I then ran 3 (optimism v. neutral v. pessimism) \times 2 (self v. child) ANOVA looking at unspecified anti-natalism ratings. The resulting model did not indicate an interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. children on unspecified anti-natalism, F(2, 185) = .92, p = .40. There was not an effect of thoughts about the future on unspecified anti-natalism, F(2, 185) = .41, p = .66. Lastly, there was no effect of thinking about yourself v. children on unspecified anti-natalism ratings, F(1, 185) = 1.26, p = .26.

Using the same model as above, I examined altruistic anti-natalism. The resulting model did not indicate an interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. children on altruistic anti-natalism, F(2, 185) = 1.30, p = .28. There was not an effect of thoughts about the future on altruistic anti-natalism, F(2, 185) = .22, p = .28.

.81. There was also no effect of thinking about yourself v. children on altruistic antinatalism ratings, F(1, 185) = 1.50, p = .22.

Using the same model to examine misanthropic anti-natalism, the resulting model did not indicate an interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. children on misanthropic anti-natalism, F(2, 185) = .92, p = .40. There was not an effect of thoughts about the future on misanthropic anti-natalism, F(2, 185) = .86, p = .43. There was also no effect of thinking about yourself v. children on misanthropic anti-natalism ratings, F(1, 185) = .26, p = .61.

3.2.4 Exploratory Regression Analyses

To examine the optimism and anti-natalism correlational relationships found above I performed a multiple regression. When performing a multiple regression using optimism toward one's children, state optimism, and trait optimism to predict anti-natalism article ratings, my model was found to be significant, $R^2 = .05$, F(3, 187) = 3.54, p = .02, but the individual predictors were not found to be significant (ps > .25), likely because the three optimism measures were all highly correlated.

When performing a multiple regression using optimism toward one's children, state optimism, and trait optimism to predict anti-natalism article grading, my model was found to be significant, $R^2 = .10$, F(3, 187) = 7.10, p < .001. State optimism marginally predicted lower anti-natalism article gradings (B = -2.86, p = .07), trait optimism also marginally predicted lower article gradings (B = -2.57, P = .07), optimism toward children did not predict article gradings (P = .60).

When performing a multiple regression using optimism toward one's children, state optimism, and trait optimism to predict support for general anti-natalism, my model

was found to be significant, $R^2 = .17$, F(3, 187) = 12.39, p < .001. Trait optimism predicted less support for general anti-natalism (B = -.26, p = .01), (all other ps > .14).

When performing a multiple regression using optimism toward one's children, state optimism, and trait optimism to predict support for altruistic anti-natalism, my model was found to be significant, $R^2 = .06$, F(3, 187) = 3.96, p = .009. State optimism marginally predicted less support for altruistic anti-natalism (B = -2.07, p = .08), (all other ps > .26).

When performing a multiple regression using optimism toward one's children, state optimism, and trait optimism to predict support for misanthropic anti-natalism, my model was found to be significant, $R^2 = .12$, F(3, 187) = 8.67, p < .001. State optimism marginally predicted less support for misanthropic anti-natalism (B = -.21, p = .08), trait optimism also marginally predicted less support for misanthropic anti-natalism (B = -.20, p = .07), optimism toward children did not predict support for misanthropic anti-natalism (p = .74).

3.3 Discussion

Study 1 consisted of a study examining the effect of optimism (v. pessimism) + child (v. self) manipulation on individuals support for or resistance to anti-natalist beliefs. Generally, my hypotheses were not supported. Firstly, my manipulation checks suggested that at least partially my manipulations might not have been successful at manipulating optimism and pessimism.

Additionally, individuals largely did not express differences in essay rating or grading, or anti-natalism scale rating based on condition. Overall, somewhat unsurprisingly, this suggests that anti-natalism and choices and opinions surrounding

childbearing are deeply held and are difficult to manipulate. Additionally, this again suggests that anti-natalism is a widely unpopular belief. Regardless of condition, support for anti-natalism was quite low, as were ratings and gradings of the anti-natalism article.

Though the previous manipulation was generally unsuccessful, state optimism, trait optimism, and optimism toward one's children were negatively correlated with support for anti-natalism. Additionally, overall, state optimism, trait optimism, and child optimism predicted reduced support for anti-natalism. This suggests that though individuals were seemingly not generally primed to be more optimistic v. pessimistic, individuals who are optimistic are lower in anti-natalism than individuals who are less optimistic.

There could be multiple reasons for why the previous manipulation might not have worked, namely Study 1 explicitly had people think about their current or future children's lives in a positive or negative light. As individuals are expected to be biased toward optimism for their children, individuals might already be highly optimistic about their children and also resistant to pessimism about their children when explicitly told about their children's imagined futures, when a more indirect manipulation might influence individuals to feel less directly threatened about their children, while also thinking more deeply about what how another factor might positively or negatively affect their children's futures. As such, I conducted a second study using the economy as a way to indirectly influence individuals' thoughts about their children's futures.

CHAPTER IV - STUDY 2

Study 2 examines the effect of induced optimism about the economy (in comparison to optimism about oneself) on anti-natalism. As in Study 1, pessimism is employed as an alternative to optimism, Study 2 also examines the effect of induced pessimism about the economy in comparison to oneself on anti-natalism. Beyond hopefully showing main effects of optimism and pessimism on anti-natalism, I also predicted that optimism or pessimism about the economy would be more important to anti-natalism than optimism or pessimism about oneself, as the future economy should greatly affect one's future children and individuals who think that their children will have a promising economic future should have less reason to support anti-natalism. This is because the future economy is something that will be experienced by future children. If the economy enters another severe depression or recession, then future children will suffer from a lack of high paying jobs, education opportunities, and necessary resources. While a strong economy will help future children obtain good jobs, degrees, and enough resources.

4.1 Method

4.1.1 Participants

As the overall structure of Study 2 is the same as Study 1, I planned to recruit approximately 300 participants. I recruited 326 participants through Amazon Mechanical Turk. Participants were paid \$1 for between 10 and 15 minutes of their time, participants were boosted \$1 if they went over 15-minutes. 14 participants were removed from analyses for failing attention checks which consisted of two questions asking them to click a certain option. Participants were again screened through Cloud Research for being

reliable participants and low in previous attention check failures before being allowed to participate. Additionally, 80 participants were removed from analyses for not having or wanting children, thus data from 232 participants who completed the study were analyzed.

4.1.2 Materials

4.1.2.1 Demographics

As in Study 1, participants received a demographics questionnaire asking them their gender, age, and ethnic background, and if they wanted to have children in the future. I did not expect to find a difference in gender, age, or ethnic background, but it is standard practice to report these data. The gender of my participants was relatively diverse (129 cisgender women, 86 cisgender men, 1 transgender woman, and 16 gender non-binary or other. My participants were also diverse in age, ranging from 21 to 84 (*M* = 45.29). My sample was predominantly white or Caucasian (189, 16 black or African American, 9 Latino(a) or Hispanic, 13 Asian or Pacific Islander, and 6 multiracial). And the majority of my participants already had children (156, 35 wanted them but did not have them, and 41 had yet to decide if they wanted to have children or not).

4.1.2.2 Self-Esteem Measure

As in Study 1 trait self-esteem was assessed using the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (Rosenberg, 1965; a = 0.93, M = 3.10, SD = 0.66).

4.1.2.3 Positive and Negative Affect

The PANAS (Watson et al., 1988) was once again used to measure participants' positive (a = 0.89, M = 4.60, SD = 1.10) and negative affect (a = 0.95, M = 1.80, SD = 1.20).

4.1.2.4 Dispositional Optimism

Trait optimism was assessed using the Life Orientation Test-Revised (LOT-R; Scheier et al., 1994; a = 0.92, M = 3.40, SD = 1.00).

4.1.2.5 Socioeconomic Status

Socioeconomic Status (SES) was assessed using six-items previously used to measure socioeconomic status (Griskevicius et al., 2011; a = 0.79, M = 3.60, SD = 1.30).

4.1.2.6 Depression Measure

To measure depression, I again used the Center for Epistemologic Studies Depression Scale (the CES-D Scale; Radloff, 1977; a = 0.94, M = 1.70, SD = 0.59).

4.1.2.7 Priming Material

Participants in the optimism (n = 81), pessimism (n = 74), and control (n = 77) conditions completed a modified version of the Best Possible Self writing prompt (King, 2001). The prime also discussed the participant's future (n = 108) or the future economy (n = 124). In the optimism + self condition (n = 34) participants first read a short news article about why they should be optimistic about the new year (Kenny, 2021) and then read a prompt saying, "Think about your life in the future. Imagine that everything has gone as well as it possibly could. You have worked hard and succeeded at accomplishing all of your life goals. Think of this as the realization of all of your life dreams. Now, write about what you imagined". While participants in the optimism + economy condition (n = 47) read a news article about why economists were optimistic about the new year (Quinn, 2022) and then read a prompt saying, "Think about the economy in the future. Imagine that everything has gone as well as it possibly could. The future economy

is strong and successful. Think of this as the realization of a strong economy and economic prosperity. Now, write about what you imagined".

Participants in the pessimism + self condition (n = 37) read a news article about why there is so much public pessimism (Ezrati, 2021) and then a prompt saying, "Think about your life in the future. Imagine that everything has gone as bad as it possibly could. You have worked hard and but have not succeeded at accomplishing all of your life goals. Think of this as all of your dreams not being realized. Now, write about what you imagined". While participants in the pessimism + economy (n = 37) condition read a news article about consumers having a negative view about the economy (PYMNTS, 2022) and then a prompt saying "Think about the economy in the future. Imagine that everything has gone as bad as it possibly could. The future economy is weak and unsuccessful. Think of this as the realization of a weak economy and economic hardship. Now, write about what you imagined".

Participants in the neutral + self condition (n = 37) first read a short news article about the location of the Super Bowl (Beacham, 2022) and then a prompt saying, "Think about your life in the future. Imagine that everything has stayed the same. Your life has not been overly bad or good. And you have been spending your time going through the motions. Now, write about what you imagined". While participants in the neutral + economy condition (n = 40) read a news article about China's new economic ambassador to New Zealand (McKenzie, 2022) and then read a prompt saying "Think about the economy in the future. Imagine that everything has stayed about the same. The future economy is going at a steady pace, the economy is neither strong nor weak. Now, write about what you imagined". After being assigned to their condition, participants were

asked to spend a few minutes carefully thinking about the writing topic and then writing about what they imagined.

4.1.2.8 Child Optimism Bias Measure

Though I did not attempt to manipulate optimism about future children in Study 2, I included the same child optimism measure used in Study 1 as I thought that optimism about the economy might increase individual's optimism about their children's future (a = 0.94, M = 4.70, SD = 0.86).

4.1.2.9 Optimism Manipulation Check

Next, participants received the same adapted version of the questionnaire for Future Expectations (FEX; MacLeod, 1996) used in Study 1 (a = 0.92, M = 4.60, SD = 0.96).

4.1.2.10 Essay Responses

As in Study 1, participants rated their responses to two essays after the manipulation. The anti-natalism essay was a shortened version of (Benatar, 1997; a = 0.92, M = 2.80, SD = 1.30). And the parent essay was a shortened version of (Spera, 2005; a = 0.90, M = 5.70, SD = 0.89). As in Study 1, participants also assigned a grade to the anti-natalism (M = 73.00) and parenting (M = 90.20) essays from 50 to 100.

4.1.2.11 Anti-Natalism Scale

As in Study 1, I also measured individuals' explicit support for general antinatalism (a = 0.92, M = 1.70, SD = 0.98), altruistic anti-natalism (a = 0.79, M = 2.20, SD = 1.10), and misanthropic anti-natalism (a = 0.86, M = 2.20, SD = 1.20).

4.1.2.12 Procedure

As in Study 1, participants were recruited for the study online through Amazon Mechanical Turk. They were given an informed consent statement and asked to continue on to the next page if they chose to participate in the study. Participants first received the demographics questionnaire, then Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale, the socioeconomic questions, the CES-D Scale, the LOT-R, and the PANAS in randomized order to prevent order effects. After measuring personality differences, participants were then randomly assigned to one of the six priming conditions in our 3 (optimism v. pessimism v. control) × 2 (self v. economy) design. Next, they completed the two manipulation checks in randomized order to confirm that the manipulations worked as intended. Then they were given two essays in randomized order and asked to provide feedback on the essays and authors. From there they completed the anti-natalism scale. Lastly, they were presented with an onscreen debriefing.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Manipulation Check

To see if my manipulations were successful, I ran a 3 (optimism v. neutral v. pessimism) \times 2 (self v. economy) ANOVA looking at state optimism. The resulting model indicated that there was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. economy on state optimism, F(2, 226) = .98, p = .38. There was not an effect of thoughts about the future on state optimism, F(2, 226) = .210, p = .13. There was also not an effect of thinking about yourself v. the economy on state optimism ratings, F(1, 226) = .33, p = .57.

4.2.2 Essay Ratings/Grades

I then submitted essay ratings to a 3 (between-subjects: optimism v. neutral v. pessimism) \times 2 (between-subjects: self v. economy) \times 2 (repeated measure: anti-natalism vs. control) mixed-model ANOVA. The resulting model indicated that there was a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. the economy on essay ratings, F(2, 226) = 3.09, p = .05, $\eta_p^2 = .03$. Pairwise comparisons indicated that individuals in the neutral + economy condition rated the anti-natalist article significantly higher than all other conditions (ps < .05), all other differences were found to be non-significant (ps > .26, all means can be found in Table 3). There was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and essay ratings, F(2, 226) =1.46, p = .23. There was also not an interaction between thinking about yourself v. economy and essay ratings, F(1, 226) = .02, p = .90. Additionally, there was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. the economy, F(2, 226) = 1.30, p = .27. There was a main effect of essay ratings, F(1, 200) = .27. $(226) = 746.83, p < .001, \eta_p^2 = .77$, participants liked the anti-natalist author (M = 2.80)significantly less than the author of the parenting article (M = 5.70), regardless of condition. There was a significant main effect of thoughts about the future, F(2, 226) =3.08, p = .05, $\eta_p^2 = .03$. Pairwise comparisons indicated that individuals in the neutral condition (M = 3.11) rated the anti-natalism article significantly higher than both the optimism (M = 2.65, p = .03) and pessimism conditions (M = 2.61, p = .02). There was no significant main effect of thinking about yourself v. children, F(1, 226) = .38, p = .54.

To determine whether my predicted covariates changed these results, I submitted essay ratings to a $3 \times 2 \times 2$ mixed model ANCOVA controlling for self-esteem, positive

affect, negative affect, trait optimism, SES, and depression. Controlling for these variables indicated that there remained a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. the economy on essay ratings, F(2, 220) = 3.40, p = .04. There was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and essay ratings, F(2, 220) = 1.17, p = .31. There was also not an interaction between thinking about yourself v. economy and essay ratings, F(1, 220) = .13, p = .71. Additionally, there was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. the economy, F(2, 220) = 2.50, p = .09. There was no longer a main effect of essay ratings, F(1, 220) = .32, p = .58. There was also no longer a significant main effect of thoughts about the future, F(2, 220) = 1.90, p = .15. Lastly, there was no significant main effect of thinking about yourself v. children, F(1, 220) = .01, p = .99.

From there I submitted essay grades to the same 3 (between-subjects: optimism v. neutral v. pessimism) × 2 (between-subjects: self v. economy) × 2 (repeated measure: anti-natalism vs. control) mixed-model ANOVA. The resulting model indicated that there was not an interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. the economy on essay grades, F(2, 226) = 1.24, p = .29. There was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and essay grades, F(2, 226) = 1.01, p = .37. There was also not an interaction between thinking about yourself v. economy and essay grades, F(1, 226) = .06, p = .80. Additionally, there was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. the economy, F(2, 226) = 1.57, p = .21. The resulting model indicated only a main effect of essay grades, F(1, 226) = 259.27, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .53$, participants graded the anti-natalist essay (M = 72.97)

significantly lower than the parenting article (M = 90.17), regardless of condition. There was not a significant main effect of thoughts about the future, F(2, 226) = 1.66, p = .19. Lastly, there was not a significant main effect of thinking about yourself v. the economy, F(1, 226) = 1.81, p = .18.

To determine whether my predicted covariates changed these results, I submitted essay grades to a $3 \times 2 \times 2$ mixed model ANCOVA controlling for self-esteem, positive affect, negative affect, trait optimism, SES, and depression. There was not an interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. the economy on essay grades, F(2, 220) = 1.58, p = .21. There was not a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and essay grades, F(2, 220) = 1.30, p = .28. There was also not an interaction between thinking about yourself v. economy and essay grades, F(1, 220) = .04, p = .83. Controlling for these variables, there was a marginally significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. the economy, F(2, 220) = 2.65, p = .07. Controlling for these variables showed that there was no longer a main effect of essay grading, F(1, 220) = 1.17, p = .28. There was not a significant main effect of thoughts about the future, F(2, 220) = .99, p = .38. Lastly, there was not a significant main effect of thinking about yourself v. the economy, F(1, 220) = 1.43, p = .23.

4.2.3 Anti-Natalism Scale

The three anti-natalism scale components were all positively correlated with each other, the anti-natalism scale ratings, and the anti-natalism scale grading. This suggests that specific beliefs about anti-natalism could influence the likability of the author of the anti-natalism article and participants' views about the anti-natalism article.

Additionally, the anti-natalism scale components, article rating, and article grading were generally negatively correlated with trait optimism, the optimism manipulation check, and optimism about one's children (all correlations can be found in Table 4). This suggests that while the manipulations generally did not appear to be successful, individuals higher in optimism about their lives and the lives of their children are less likely to support anti-natalism. Additionally, while altruistic and misanthropic anti-natalism were not correlated with SES, individuals higher in SES were significantly lower in support of general anti-natalism (shown in Table 4), suggesting that SES might preclude anti-natalism more generally.

I then ran 3 (optimism v. neutral v. pessimism) \times 2 (self v. economy) ANOVA looking at unspecified anti-natalism ratings. The resulting model did not indicate a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. the economy on unspecified anti-natalism, F(2, 226) = .27, p = .76. There was also not an effect of thoughts about the future on unspecified anti-natalism, F(2, 226) = 2.26, p = .11. Lastly, there was also no effect of thinking about yourself v. the economy on unspecified anti-natalism ratings, F(1, 226) = .96, p = .33.

Using the same model as above, I examined altruistic anti-natalism. The resulting model did not indicate a significant interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. the economy on altruistic anti-natalism, F(2, 226) = .17, p = .84. There was also not an effect of thoughts about the future on altruistic anti-natalism, F(2, 226) = 1.90, p = .15. There was an effect of thinking about yourself v. the economy on altruistic anti-natalism ratings, F(1, 226) = 4.22, p = .04. Individuals in the economy

condition (M = 2.30) were higher in altruistic anti-natalism than individuals in the self condition (M = 2.02).

4.2.4 Exploratory Regression Analyses

To expand upon the previously found relationships between optimism and antinatalism further I conducted a multiple regression. When performing a multiple regression using optimism toward one's children, state optimism, and trait optimism to predict anti-natalism article ratings, my model was found to be significant, $R^2 = .02$, F(3, 228) = 2.66, p = .05, but the individual predictors were not found to be significant (ps > .16), likely because the three optimism measures were highly correlated with each other.

When performing a multiple regression using optimism toward one's children, state optimism, and trait optimism to predict anti-natalism article grading, my model was found to be significant, $R^2 = .05$, F(3, 228) = 4.41, p = .005, but the individual predictors were not found to be significant (ps > .11), again, likely because the three optimism measures were highly correlated with each other.

When performing a multiple regression using optimism toward one's children, state optimism, and trait optimism to predict general anti-natalism, my model was found to be significant, $R^2 = .11$, F(3, 228) = 9.57, p < .001. Optimism about one's children predicted less support for general anti-natalism (B = -.30, p < .001), trait optimism also marginally predicted less support for general anti-natalism (B = -.14, p = .06), though state optimism did not predict support (p = .99).

When performing a multiple regression using optimism toward one's children, state optimism, and trait optimism to predict altruistic anti-natalism, my model was found

to be significant, $R^2 = .04$, F(3, 228) = 2.97, p = .03, but the individual predictors were again not found to be significant (ps > .15).

Lastly, when performing a multiple regression using optimism toward one's children, state optimism, and trait optimism to predict misanthropic anti-natalism, my model was found to be significant, $R^2 = .08$, F(3, 228) = 6.99, p < .001. Additionally, optimism about one's children predicted less support for misanthropic anti-natalism (B = -.20, p = .05), as did trait optimism (B = -.26, p = .006), though not state optimism (p = .89).

Using the same model to examine misanthropic anti-natalism, the resulting model did not indicate an interaction between thoughts about the future and thinking about yourself v. the economy on misanthropic anti-natalism, F(2, 226) = .32, p = .73. There was also not an effect of thoughts about the future on misanthropic anti-natalism, F(2, 226) = .82, p = .44. Lastly, there was no effect of thinking about yourself v. the economy on misanthropic anti-natalism ratings, F(1, 226) = .02, p = .88.

4.3 Discussion

Study 2 consisted of a study examining the effect of optimism (v. pessimism v. neutral) x economy (v. self) manipulation on individuals' support for or rejection of antinatalist beliefs. As in Study 1, my hypotheses were generally not supported. Firstly, my manipulation checks suggested that my manipulations might not have been successful at manipulating optimism and pessimism.

As in Study 1, though the previous manipulation was generally unsuccessful, state optimism, trait optimism, and optimism toward one's children were negatively correlated with support for anti-natalism. Additionally, overall, optimism predicted reduced support

for anti-natalism. This again suggests that though individuals were seemingly not generally primed to be more optimistic v. pessimistic, individuals who are optimistic are lower in anti-natalism than individuals who are less optimistic.

Lastly, as in Study 1, individuals largely did not express differences in essay rating or grading, or anti-natalism scale rating based on condition. Overall, this again suggests that anti-natalism and choices and opinions surrounding reproduction are deeply personal and are difficult to manipulate. Again, suggesting that anti-natalism is a widely unpopular belief. Regardless of condition support for anti-natalism was quite low, as were ratings and gradings of the anti-natalism article.

CHAPTER V – GENERAL DISCUSSION

The goal of Study 1 was to examine if individuals biased toward optimism surrounding their children or future children would show less support toward antinatalism than individuals optimistic about their future, pessimistic about their children's future children, or pessimistic about their future. While the goal of Study 2 was to examine if individuals biased toward optimism surrounding the economy would show less support toward anti-natalism than individuals optimistic about their future, pessimistic about the economy, or pessimistic about their future.

Overall, my hypotheses were not supported. First, my manipulation checks showed either no or partial success, suggesting that either a stronger manipulation might be needed to successfully influence individuals' perceptions of anti-natalism or that antinatalism is largely stable and difficult to manipulate. While individuals' optimism was correlated with lower ratings of the anti-natalism essay and scale components and, overall, optimism predicted reduced support for anti-natalism, my priming optimism and pessimism conditions did not show a difference in anti-natalism rating. In general, support for anti-natalism was quite low, as were ratings and gradings of the anti-natalism article. This supports the idea that anti-natalism is a generally unpopular and difficult to manipulate belief. Additionally, this reinforces the idea that individuals' thoughts and decisions surrounding reproduction are deeply held and unyielding to the opinions of others and outside factors.

It is important to note that optimism about oneself both generally and at the current moment and optimism about one's children predicted decreased support for antinatalism as measured using article ratings, article gradings, and anti-natalism scale

measures. While optimism about one's children did not generally predict greater reduced support for anti-natalism in comparison to personal optimism measures, optimism generally reduced support for anti-natalism, suggesting that optimism whether about oneself or one's children precludes individuals from supporting anti-natalist beliefs.

5.1 Limitations and Future Directions

There were a few limitations with the current studies. Both studies were conducted in early 2022, a time with a variety of extenuating circumstances, namely the congoing COVID-19 pandemic, the invasion of and ongoing war on Ukraine by Russia, concerns surrounding inflation and a potential recession globally and in the United States in particular, and ongoing concerns surrounding the probe into the January 6, 2021, insurrection on the United States government. As early 2022 was a time of great anxiety, stress, and pessimism in the United State, this could have influenced my results. While the news articles that I presented to participants were real articles posted on news websites around the time of the study, many news articles were on the internet showing contrary opinions. In particular, there were many articles about why people should be pessimistic about the future of the world and United States, especially about why there is reason to be pessimistic about the economy, while news articles about why one should be optimistic about the future in general, children, or the economy were difficult to find. Even neutral articles about the economy were difficult to come across at the time. Individuals could have had a difficult time believing the articles presented. Future research could examine induced optimism and pessimism at a more stable and less anxious time for the United States and world in general.

Another limitation is the potential that the manipulations might not have been strong enough to successfully manipulate optimism or pessimism enough to influence thoughts about anti-natalism. My manipulation check for Study 2 was found to be unsuccessful and my manipulation checks for Study 1 only partially indicated a successful manipulation, as while individuals in the pessimism condition were significantly lower in optimism than individuals in the optimism and neutral conditions, there was not a significant difference in optimism between individuals in the optimism and neutral conditions.

Additionally, the results raise doubts about whether the neutral + economy condition was acting as it was intended. Individuals in the neutral + economy condition rated the anti-natalism essay significantly higher. One reason this could be is that the prime mentioned a Chinese economic advisor to New Zealand. While all of my participants were located in the United States and thus should seemingly not be concerned about a Chinese economic advisor in New Zealand, participants might have been threatened by the mention of China as it is a powerful competitor to the United States and this could have led them to think about China in relation to the United States, possibly making them more unsure about the future of American children if China continues to compete with the United States. To prevent bias against another country from potentially influencing the results, future research could instead present a news article discussing an economic advisor in the United States working with a country that is usually viewed possibly by Americans.

Also, the overwhelming majority of participants in both studies already had children, which could cause them to be more resistant to anti-natalism, regardless of what

evidence they are presented with. Parents usually want the best for their children, they don't want their children to experience a life of suffering, thus being present with this information is likely deeply upsetting. This is likely especially unsettling to individuals who are already parents as they have children that can suffer, and their parents are solely responsible for them being born and thus being able to experience suffering. As such, parents might attempt to ignore these reminders and instead work to strengthen their belief that reproducing is good and they did the right thing. Future research could employ a sample of participants who want but do not yet have children as they might be less resistant to reminders that life could be bad for their children given that they can still prevent those children from being born and thus suffering in some way.

More so, the control article participants read was related to parenting though not reproduction specifically. Though this has not been previously found to be related to ratings of anti-natalism, it is possible that the control article inadvertently caused individuals to think positively about having children or some other thought that negatively influenced their opinions of anti-natalism. Future work could instead present a control essay that is entirely unrelated to children or parenting to see if the same effect would be found.

Lastly, as support for anti-natalism has been found to be overwhelmingly low and mostly not subject to change, future work could compare anti-natalism to the choice to be childfree or childless-by-choice. As previously mentioned, much of the population is now choosing to forgo having children or to have less children than previous generations, thus making this choice much more common than anti-natalism. As such, individuals might be more likely to support being childfree when primed for pessimism in comparison to

optimism, while support for anti-natalism might remain the same after pessimism manipulation. Therefore, childfree individuals and the choice to remain childfree seem to be a promising future comparison to anti-natalists and support for anti-natalism.

5.2 Conclusion

I presented two studies examining the effect of optimism manipulation on individuals support for anti-natalism and anti-natalist arguments. Study 1 examined optimism manipulation (self v. child) in comparison to pessimism (self v. child) and a neutral control (self v. child) on anti-natalism. Instead of optimism about one's children, Study 2 examined optimism toward oneself in comparison to optimism about the future economy which is likely to also be linked to optimism about one's future children. Specifically, optimism (self v. economy) was compared to pessimism (self v. economy) and a control group (self v. economy).

This project attempts to lead to a better understanding of why some individuals might hold negative views about reproduction and why many continue having children, even when negative events are occurring to society and potentially themselves and their children. Additionally, this work attempted to help better understand why the birth rate is declining in many parts of the world. For example, birth rates have been found to decline during economic hardships like recessions and depressions (Johnson, 2014; Livingston & Cohn, 2010; Livingston, 2011). While the hypotheses of these studies were not supported, individuals low in SES did show increased support for general anti-natalism in comparison to individuals high in SES, indicating that SES could be important to beliefs surrounding reproduction. Lastly, as the birth rate continues to decline with our current

economic difficulties and public health crisis caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, reproductive psychology becomes of great importance to study.

 $APPENDIX\ A-Tables$ Table 1 Study 1 means and standard deviations (by thoughts about future and child v. self conditions combined)

	OptChild	OptSelf	PessChild	PessSelf	NeutChild	NeutSelf
Child Optimism	4.89 (.97)	4.70 (.88)	4.53 (.93)	4.31 (.83)	5.42 (.93)	4.70 (.89)
State Optimism	4.72 (.98)	4.71 (1.09)	4.98 (1.06)	4.35 (.95)	5.04 (1.45)	4.57 (.95)
Self-Esteem	3.02 (.62)	2.96 (.71)	3.23 (.57)	3.19 (.60)	3.14 (.81)	3.04 (.70)
Positive Affect	4.76 (1.29)	4.68 (1.19)	5.03 (1.11)	4.74 (1.16)	5.21 (1.24)	4.63 (.98)
Negative Affect	2.08 (1.42)	2.07 (1.29)	1.97 (1.08)	2.08 (1.19)	2.01 (1.09)	2.06 (1.15)
Trait Optimism	3.44 (1.06)	3.20 (.96)	3.62 (.96)	3.29 (1.04)	3.54 (1.22)	3.26 (1.03)
SES	3.50 (1.31)	3.61 (1.42)	3.94 (1.41)	3.40 (1.47)	3.78 (1.32)	3.76 (1.38)
Depression	1.76 (.67)	1.80 (.63)	1.61 (.54)	1.76 (.65)	1.66 (.79)	1.82 (.82)
AN Essay	2.41 (1.10)	2.85 (1.49)	2.80 (1.44)	2.80 (1.61)	2.55 (1.52)	2.57 (1.81)
AN Grade	68.56 (14.2)	73.86 (16.14)	75.63 (15.37)	73.52 (15.07)	73.86 (15.29)	69.28 (17.57)
Control Essay	5.69 (.95)	5.81 (.82)	5.70 (1.11)	5.70 (1.08)	5.62 (1.31)	5.88 (.92)
Control Grade	91.59 (7.72)	91.30 (6.33)	90.60 (6.83)	90.62 (8.77)	90.93 (5.89)	91.38 (8.75)
General AN	1.73 (1.03)	2.06 (1.36)	1.72 (.84)	2.09 (1.26)	1.80 (1.16)	1.67 (1.23)

Table 1 (continued)

Altruistic AN	1.93 (1.10)	2.38 (1.17)	2.09 (1.10)	2.43 (1.19)	2.22 (1.31)	2.05 (1.13)
Misanth AN	2.19 (1.13)	2.47 (1.39)	2.19 (1.03)	2.44 (1.29)	2.20 (1.51)	1.95 (.95)

Table 2 Study 1 observed correlations between all variables

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1. ChildOpt		.58***	.29***	.27***	21**	.34***	.29**	29***	29*	13	.26***	.13	28***	05	20**
2. StateOpt		-	.69***	.56***	47***	.68***	.44***	-63***	22**	29***	.24***	.10	36***	21**	33***
3. <u>Self Est</u>			-	.52***	60***	.69***	.38***	80***	25***	32***	.07	04	45***	30***	42***
4. Pos Aff				-	33***	.54***	.33***	41***	02	17*	.24***	.15*	25***	14	26***
5. Neg Aff					-	41***	24**	.71***	.24**	.23**	04	.02	.45***	.33***	.36***
6. TraitOpt						-	.40***	70***	20**	29***	.02	.02	36***	21**	31***
7. SES							-	42***	.11	.02	.08	03	.02	.09	01
8. Depress								-	.30***	.31***	01	.05	.45***	.32***	.37***
9. AN Essay									-	.64***	05	.02	.49***	.45***	.41***
10. AN Grade										-	.0003	.11	.45***	.39***	.37***
11. Cont Essay											-	.62***	19**	16*	22*
12. Cont Grade												-	12	18*	13
13. General AN													-	.68***	.69***
14. Altruistic AN														-	.70***
15. Misanth AN															-

Table 3 Study 2 means and standard deviations (by thoughts about future and econ or self conditions combined)

	OptEcon	OptSelf	PessEcon	PessSelf	NeutEcon	NeutSelf
Child Optimism	4.71 (.72)	5.04 (.85)	4.53 (.80)	4.57 (.89)	4.55 (.88)	4.86 (.99)
State Optimism	4.74 (.94)	4.78 (.94)	4.42 (.99)	4.49 (.85)	4.71 (.93)	4.39 (1.10)
Self-Esteem	3.15 (.56)	3.14 (.69)	3.09 (.68)	3.26 (.66)	3.11 (.68)	2.96 (.74)
Positive Affect	4.71 (1.02)	4.09 (1.33)	4.87 (1.09)	4.69 (1.04)	4.81 (1.01)	4.65 (1.23)
Negative Affect	1.72 (1.08)	1.51 (.88)	2.00 (1.27)	1.64 (1.01)	1.98 (1.31)	2.19 (1.33)
Trait Optimism	3.59 (.90)	3.25 (.97)	3.22 (1.22)	3.50 (.96)	3.41 (1.00)	3.24 (1.13)
SES	3.67 (1.13)	3.48 (1.39)	3.67 (1.43)	3.77 (1.30)	3.57 (1.24)	3.62 (1.25)
Depression	1.59 (.49)	1.68 (.62)	1.68 (.62)	1.53 (.50)	1.73 (.66)	1.80 (.66)
AN Essay	2.51 (1.33)	2.84 (1.26)	2.56 (1.32)	2.66 (.94)	3.43 (1.38)	2.77 (1.45)
AN Grade	70.81 (14.21)	73.03 (13.75)	71.46 (16.82)	71.76 (13.71)	78.67 (14.34)	72.24 (16.17)
Control Essay	5.73 (.91)	5.56 (.87)	5.70 (.95)	5.64 (.98)	5.70 (.80)	5.78 (.87)
Control Grade	91.09 (6.95)	89.97 (8.36)	90.32 (7.15)	88.22 (10.06)	91.65 (5.14)	89.38 (10.08)
General AN	1.52 (.79)	1.47 (.67)	1.83 (1.02)	1.76 (1.05)	1.90 (1.06)	1.64 (1.21)
Altruistic AN	2.13 (1.12)	1.82 (.84)	2.28 (1.19)	2.09 (.98)	2.51 (1.18)	2.12 (1.16)
Misanth AN	2.10 (1.03)	2.17 (1.17)	2.29 (1.18)	2.14 (1.28)	2.30 (1.31)	2.46 (1.28)

Table 4 Observed correlations between all variables

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1. Child Opt		.56***	.26***	.17**	20**	.28***	.21**	27***	12	17**	.18**	.20**	30***	15*	20**
2. State Opt		-	.59***	.45***	45***	.61***	.36***	57***	15*	19**	.19**	.12	24***	19**	21**
3. Self-Est			-	.47***	60***	.73***	.37***	76***	24***	31***	.11	.04	30***	18**	31***
4. Pos Aff				-	30***	.51***	.33***	46***	06	20**	.26***	.21**	12	02	10
5. Neg Aff					-	53***	28***	.69***	.17**	.19**	.03	.004	.32***	.23***	.27***
6. Trait Opt						-	.42***	69***	16*	20**	.12	.12	22***	12	26***
7. SES							-	38***	08	06	.05	.09	13*	03	09
8. Depression								-	.19**	.23***	11	08	.32***	.22***	.29***
9. AN Essay									-	.65***	04	.02	.42***	.35***	.36***
10. AN Grade										-	.04	.12	.29***	.21**	.29***
11. Control Essay											-	.56***	19**	14*	16*
12. Control Grade												-	10	10	09
13. General AN													-	.60***	.65***
14. Altruistic AN														-	.61***
15. Misanth AN															-

APPENDIX B – IRB Approval Letter

Office of Research Integrity



118 COLLEGE DRIVE #5116 • HATTIESBURG, MS | 601.266.6756

| WWW.USM.EDU/ORI

NOTICE OF INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD ACTION

The project below has been reviewed by The University of Southern Mississippi Institutional Review Board in accordance with Federal Drug Administration regulations (21 CFR 26, 111), Department of Health and Human Services regulations (45 CFR Part 46), and University Policy to ensure:

- The risks to subjects are minimized and reasonable in relation to the anticipated benefits.
- · The selection of subjects is equitable.
- Informed consent is adequate and appropriately documented.
- Where appropriate, the research plan makes adequate provisions for monitoring the data collected to ensure the safety of the subjects.
- · Where appropriate, there are adequate provisions to protect the privacy of subjects and to maintain the confidentiality of all data.
- Appropriate additional safeguards have been included to protect vulnerable subjects.
- Any unanticipated, serious, or continuing problems encountered involving risks to subjects must be reported immediately. Problems should be reported to ORI via the Incident submission on InfoEd IRB.
- The period of approval is twelve months. An application for renewal must be submitted for projects exceeding twelve months.

PROTOCOL NUMBER: 22-048

PROJECT TITLE: Future Expectations Survey SCHOOL/PROGRAM School of Psychology RESEARCHERS: PI: Faith Brown

Investigators: Brown, Faith~Keefer, Lucas A~

IRB COMMITTEE ACTION: Approved CATEGORY: Exempt Category APPROVAL STARTING: 28-Feb-2022

Donald Sacco, Ph.D.

Sonald Daccofr

Institutional Review Board Chairperson

REFERENCES

- Alloy, L. B., & Ahrens, A. H. (1987). Depression and pessimism for the future: Biased use of statistically relevant information in predictions for self versus others. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *52*(2), 366–378. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.52.2.366
- Banerjee, R. (2022). Pandemic & education: With schools shut again, are children's future at risk?. Retrieved from https://www.timesnownews.com/education/article/pandemic-education-with-schools-shut-again-are-children-s-future-at-risk/849217
- Beachman, G. (2022). Super Bowl organizers say game is staying in Inglewood. *ABC News*. Retrieved from https://abcnews.go.com/Sports/wireStory/super-bowl-organizers-game-staying-inglewood-82251949#:~:text=INGLEWOOD%2C%20Calif.,leaving%20the%20Los%20Ang eles%20area.
- Benatar, D. (1997). Why it is better never to come into existence. *American Philosophical Quarterly*, 34(3), 345-355.
- Benatar, D. (2006). *Better never to have been: The harm of coming into existence*.

 Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Benatar, D. (2015). The misanthropic argument for anti-natalism. In S. Hannan, S. Brennan, & R. Vernon (Eds.), *Permissible progeny: The morality of procreation and parenting* (pp. 34-64). New York, NY, US: Oxford University Press.
- Benatar, D. (2017). *The human predicament*. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.

- Benatar, D. (2019). #148 David Benatar: Anti-natalism, abortion, suicide, euthanasia, environmentalism. Audio interview with Lopes, R.
- Boehm, J. K., Chen, Y., Williams, D. R., Ryff, C., & Kubzansky, L. D. (2015).

 Unequally distributed psychological assets: are there social disparities in optimism, life satisfaction, and positive affect? *PloS one*, *10*(2), e0118066. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118066
- Bosch-Meevissen Y. M. C, Peters, M. L., Alberts, H. J. E. M. (2014). Dispositional optimism, optimism priming, and prevention of ego depletion. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 44, 515-520
- Brown, F. L. & Keefer, L. A. (*in preparation*). The effect of optimism on anti-natalism:

 Does optimism preclude anti-natalism?.
- Brown, F. L. & Keefer, L. A. (*in revision*). Anti-natalism as a threat to the parental worldview?: The salience of societal threats on perceptions of anti-natalists. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*.
- Brown, F. L., Keefer, L. A., & Spadgenske, L. M. (*in preparation*). The development of a scale measuring anti-natalist and pro-natalist beliefs
- Buehler, R., Griffin, D., & Ross, M. (2002). Inside the planning fallacy: The causes and consequences of optimistic time predictions. In T. Gilovich, D. Griffin, & D. Kahneman (Eds.), *Heuristics and biases: The psychology of intuitive judgment* (pp. 250-270). New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511808098.016

- Burke, D. & Cohen, E. (2016). Pope suggests contraceptives could be used to slow spread of Zika. Retrieved from https://www.cnn.com/2016/02/18/health/zika-pope-francis-contraceptives/index.html
- Chang, E. C., Maydeu-Olivares, A., & D'Zurilla, T. J. (1997). Optimism and pessimism as partially independent constructs: Relationship to positive and negative affectivity and psychological well-being. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 23(3), 433–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(97)00040-8
- Cheung, W., Wildschut, T., Sedikides, C., Hepper, E. G., Arndt, J. & A. J. J. M. Vinderhoets. (2013). Back to the future: Nostalgia increases optimism.

 *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 39(11), 1484-1496
- Chua, F. J., & Job, R. F. S. (1999). Event-specific versus unitary causal accounts of optimism bias. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 22(5), 457–491. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018657407684
- DeJoy, D. M. (1989). The optimism bias and traffic accident risk perception. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 21(4), 333–340. https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-4575(89)90024-9
- Demeny, P. (1986). Population and the invisible hand. *Demography*, 23(4), 473-487. https://doi.org/10.2307/2061346
- Duy, B., Yıldız, M.A. The Mediating Role of Self-Esteem in the Relationship Between Optimism and Subjective Well-Being. *Current Psychology* 38, 1456–1463 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-017-9698-1

- Ezrati, M. (2021). Why so much public pessimism?. *Forbes*. Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/miltonezrati/2021/12/20/why-so-much-public-pessimism/?sh=712d54ba6f41
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior research methods*, 41(4), 1149–1160. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Fore, H. H. (2022). For a better future for children and young people, we need to innovate. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2022/01/we-need-to-innovate-for-young-people/
- Fosnaugh, J., Geers, A. L., Wellman, J. A. (2009). Giving off a rose glow: The manipulation of an optimistic orientation. *The Journal of Social Psychology* 149(3), 249-263
- Hanssen, M. M., Peters, M. L., Vlaeyen, J., Meevissen, Y., & Vancleef, L. (2013).

 Optimism lowers pain: evidence of the causal status and underlying
 mechanisms. *Pain*, *154*(1), 53–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2012.08.006
- Gambino, M. (2021). The Ten Best Children's Books of 2021. *Smithsonian Magazine*.

 Retrieved from https://www.smithsonianmag.com/arts-culture/the-ten-best-childrens-books-of-2021-180979197/
- Gheaus, A. (2015). Could there ever be a duty to have children?. In S. Hannan, S. Brennan, & R. Vernon (Eds.), *Permissible progeny: The morality of procreation and parenting* (pp. 87-106). New York, NY, US: Oxford University Press.
- Griskevicius, V., Delton, A. W., Robertson, T. E., & Tybur, J. M. (2011). Environmental contingency in life history strategies: the influence of mortality and

- socioeconomic status on reproductive timing. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *100*(2), 241–254. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021082
- Ignaciuk, A., & Kelly, L. (2020). Contraception and Catholicism in the Twentieth

 Century: Transnational Perspectives on Expert, Activist and Intimate

 Practices. *Medical history*, 64(2), 163–172. https://doi.org/10.1017/mdh.2020.1
- Johnson, K. M. (2014). The hidden cost of the recession: Two million fewer births and still counting. *Carsey Research*, 26, 1-2.
- Jones, R. K. & Dreweke, J. (2011). Countering conventional wisdom: New evidence on religion and contraceptive use. Retrieved from https://www.guttmacher.org/report/countering-conventional-wisdom-new-evidence-religion-and-contraceptive-use
- King, L. A. (2001). The health benefits of writing about life goals. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 27(7), 798-807
- Kenny, C. (2021). 5 reasons to be optimistic about 2022. *Foreign Policy*. Retrieved from https://foreignpolicy.com/2021/12/27/2022-predictions-outlook-positive-optimistic/
- Kluemper, D. H., Little, L. M., & Degroot, T. (2009). State or trait: Effects of state optimism on job-related outcomes. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 30(2), 209–231. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.591
- Kress, L., Bristle, M., & Aue, T. (2018). Seeing through rose-colored glasses: How optimistic expectancies guide visual attention. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(2), Article e0193311. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0193311

- Lench, H. C., Quas, J. A., & Edelstein, R. S. (2006). My child is better than average: The extension and restriction of unrealistic optimism. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *36*(12), 2963–2979. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-9029.2006.00137.x
- Levada, W., Card. (2008). Dignitas personae: On bioethical questions.
- Livingston, G & Cohn, D. (2010). U.S. birth rate decline linked to recession. *Pew Research Center*. Retrieved from https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2010/04/06/us-birth-rate-decline-linked-to-recession/
- Livingston, G. (2011). In a down economy, fewer births. *Pew Research Center*. Retrieved from https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2011/10/12/in-a-down-economy-fewer-births/
- Livingston, G. (2015). Childlessness. *Pew Research Center*. Retrieved from https://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2015/05/07/childlessness/
- MacLeod, A. K., Byrne, A., & Valentine, J. D. (1996). Affect, emotional disorder, and future-directed thinking. *Cognition and Emotion*, 10(1), 69–85. https://doi.org/10.1080/026999396380394
- MacLeod, A., Tata, P., Kentish, J., Carroll, F., & Hunter, E. (1997). Anxiety, depression, and explanation-based pessimism for future positive and negative events. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 4, 15-24.
- Marshall, G. N., Wortman, C. B., Kusulas, J. W., Hervig, L. K., & Vickers, R. R., Jr. (1992). Distinguishing optimism from pessimism: Relations to fundamental dimensions of mood and personality. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 62(6), 1067–1074. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.62.6.1067

- McKenzie, P. (2022). China's choices of ambassador to New Zealand indicates focus on deepening economic ties. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jan/14/chinas-choice-of-ambassador-to-new-zealand-indicates-focus-on-deepening-economic-ties
- Peters, M. L., Flink, I. K. L., Boersma, K., & Linton, S. J. (2010). Manipulating optimism: Can imagining a best possible self be used to increase positive future expectancies?. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *5*(3), 204-211. doi: 10.1080/17439761003790963
- Peters, M. L., Meevissen, Y. M. C., & Hanssen, M. M. (2013). Specificity of the best possible self intervention for increasing optimism: Comparison with a gratitude intervention. *Terapia Psicológica*, 31(1), 93–100. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-48082013000100009
- PYMNTS. (2022). 40% of consumers have a negative view of the economy. Retrieved from https://www.pymnts.com/consumer-finance/2022/40-pct-consumers-have-negative-view-of-economy/#:~:text=40%25%20of%20Consumers%20Have%20a%20Negative%20 View%20of%20the%20Economy&text=Reality%20Check%3A%20The%20Payc heck%2DTo,economy%20and%2044%25%20were%20optimistic.
- Pyszczynski, T., Holt, K., & Greenberg, J. (1987). Depression, self-focused attention, and expectancies for positive and negative future life events for self and others. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *52*(5), 994–1001. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.52.5.994

- Quinn, H. (2022). Report: Still in a pandemic economy, 87% of business owners are optimistic. Retrieved from https://technical.ly/startups/business-owners-optimistic-economy2022/#:~:text=A%20whopping%2087%25%20of%20business,gaps%2C%20as%20you%20might%20expect.
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D Scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, 1(3), 385–401. https://doi.org/10.1177/014662167700100306
- Robinson-Whelen, S., Kim, C., MacCallum, R. C., & Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K. (1997).

 Distinguishing optimism from pessimism in older adults: Is it more important to be optimistic or not to be pessimistic? *Journal of Personality and Social*Psychology, 73(6), 1345–1353. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.73.6.1345
- Rosenberg, M. (1965) *Society and the adolescent self-image*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press
- Sanna, L. J. (1998). Defensive pessimism and optimism: The bitter-sweet influence of mood on performance and prefactual and counterfactual thinking. *Cognition and Emotion*, 12(5), 635–665. https://doi.org/10.1080/026999398379484
- Scheier, M. & Carver, C. (1985). Optimism, coping, and health: Assessment and implications of generalized outcome expectancies. *Health Psychology*, 4(3), 219-247
- Scheier, M. F., Carver, C. S., & Bridges, M. W. (1994). Distinguishing optimism from neuroticism (and trait anxiety, self-mastery, and self-esteem): A reevaluation of

- the Life Orientation Test. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 1063-1078.
- Schonegger, P. (2022). What's up with anti-natalists? An observational study on the relationship between dark triad personality traits and anti-natalist views.

 Philosophical Psychology, *35*(1), 66-94.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09515089.2021.1946026
- Schwaba, T., Robins, R. W., Sanghavi, P. H., & Bleidorn, W. (2019). Optimism development across adulthood and associations with positive and negative life events. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 1-10.
- Segerstrom, S. C., Taylor, S. E., Kemeny, M. E., & Fahey, J. L. (1998). Optimism is associated with mood, coping, and immune change in response to stress. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 74(6), 1646–1655. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.74.6.1646
- Sharot, T., Riccardi, A. M., Raio, C. M., & Phelps, E. A. (2007). Neural mechanisms mediating optimism bias. *Nature*, 450, 102-105. doi: 10.1038/nature06280
- Sharot, T. (2011). The optimism bias. Current Biology, 21, R941-R945.
- Spera, C. (2005). A review of the relationship among parenting practices, parenting styles, and adolescent school achievement. *Educational Psychology Review*, 17(2). doi: 10.1007/s10648-005-3950-1
- Stulberg, D. B., Hoffman, Y., Dahlquist, I. H., Freedman, L. R. (2014). Tubal ligation in Catholic hospitals: A qualitative study of ob-gyns' experiences. *Contraception*, 90(4), 422-428. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2014.04.015

- United Nations: Government policies to raise or lower the fertility rate. (2017). Retrieved from https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/popfacts/PopFacts_2017-10.pdf
- The World Bank: Fertility rate, total (births per woman). (2017). Retrieved from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/sp.dyn.tfrt.in
- Yoshimura, S., & Hashimoto, Y. (2020). The effect of induced optimism on the optimistic update bias. *BMC psychology*, 8(1), 28. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-020-0389-6
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *54*(6), 1063–1070. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Weinstein, N. D. (1980). Unrealistic optimism about future life events (1980). *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *39*, 806–820.

.